RECEIVED

Apr 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2024-CP-23-04910
Appellate Case No. 2025-002386

Harbor Town Association, Inc.; Oriole Properties, LLC; Thomas and Son Properties, LLC; and
Kelley Yarborough Woody, Esq., Guardian ad Litem Nisi Respondents,

v.

Estate of Rajiv Kumar Lakhaney, Deceased..... Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**BAKER, DONELSON, BEARMAN,
CALDWELL & BERKOWITZ, PC**

Jane H. Downey, ID 15045
J. Boone Aiken, IV, ID 105243
1501 Main St., Ste. 310
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 251-8814

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEALv
STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
STANDARD OF REVIEW5
ARGUMENT7

I. The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale Is Void Under Rule 60(b)(4) Because Service by Publication Was Constitutionally and Statutorily Insufficient.8

 A. Due process requires notice reasonably calculated to reach a known, ascertainable interested party, and publication is reserved for parties who cannot be located after due diligence.9

 B. The Association’s service of the Amended Complaint by publication did not satisfy Mullane, Belle Hall, or §§ 15-9-710 and 15-9-740.10

 C. Section 29-3-610 does not relieve a foreclosing plaintiff of its obligation to serve a known fiduciary.15

 D. Awareness of pending litigation does not cure defective service under South Carolina law.17

 E. The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale is, therefore, void under Rule 60(b)(4).20

II. The Bona Fide Purchaser Doctrine and Section 15-39-870 Do Not Validate a Sale Conducted Without Jurisdiction, and the Defense Fails on Its Own Terms in Any Event.21

 A. The bona fide purchaser doctrine engages only where the underlying decree was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction.21

 B. The bona fide purchaser defense fails on its own merits because the purchaser’s own testimony establishes constructive notice.24

 C. That the foreclosing plaintiff itself does not oppose vacatur reinforces that the equitable balance favors the Estate.25

 D. Laches cannot supply the jurisdictional foundation that the publication record lacks.26

III. Independent of the Jurisdictional Defect, Reversal Is Required Under the Second Prong of Buffalo Creek.26

IV. The Order’s Adequacy Analysis Rests on a Misapplication of the Valuation Framework Announced in Winrose.30

A. Under Winrose, the Equity Method governs where the purchaser has assumed no senior lien.30

B. The selection of the Debt Method on a property carrying no mortgage cannot be reconciled with Winrose, and the credits given against the bid are not authorized by that decision.31

C. Properly calculated under the Equity Method, the bid is grossly inadequate.33

CONCLUSION34

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Belle Hall Plantation Homeowner’s Ass’n, Inc. v. Murray, 419 S.C. 605, 799 S.E.2d 310 (Ct. App. 2017)5, 6, 8, 10, 14, 20, 22, 23, 26, 30

Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. Ashton, 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729 (Ct. App. 2014)10, 22

Buffalo Creek Invs., Inc. v. Pettus, 440 S.C. 111, 889 S.E.2d 608 (Ct. App. 2023).....5, 6, 8, 22, 23, 26, 27, 29, 30, 35

Caldwell v. Wiquist, 402 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 2013)10, 16

Cumbie v. Newberry, 251 S.C. 33, 159 S.E.2d 915 (1968)21, 23, 24, 25

Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 549 S.E.2d 591 (2001)17

E. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders, 373 S.C. 349, 644 S.E.2d 802 (Ct. App. 2007)5, 33

Gladden v. Chapman, 106 S.C. 486, 91 S.E. 796 (1917)22

Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000)15

Horry Cty. v. Ray, 382 S.C. 76, 674 S.E.2d 519 (Ct. App. 2009)6

McDaniel v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 324 S.C. 639, 478 S.E.2d 868 (Ct. App. 1996)10

Moore v. Simpson, 322 S.C. 518, 473 S.E.2d 64 (Ct. App. 1996)17

Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950)8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 19

Rallis Holdings, LLC v. Martinez, No. 2019-001821, 2023 WL 155075 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2023)22, 24, 25

Robinson v. Estate of Harris, 378 S.C. 140, 662 S.E.2d 420 (Ct. App. 2008), aff’d, 390 S.C. 272, 701 S.E.2d 740 (2010)21, 22

Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence, 318 S.C. 207, 456 S.E.2d 897 (1995)17

Spillers v. Clay, 233 S.C. 99, 103 S.E.2d 759 (1958)27, 29

Wachesaw Plantation E. Cmty. Servs. Ass’n, Inc. v. Alexander, 420 S.C. 251, 802 S.E.2d 635 (Ct. App. 2017)5, 16, 26

Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Turner, 378 S.C. 147, 662 S.E.2d 424 (Ct. App. 2008)6, 27

Winrose Homeowners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. Hale, 428 S.C. 563, 837 S.E.2d 47 (2019)6, 7, 24, 25,
27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36

Statutes

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-7109, 10, 12, 13, 14, 16
S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-7409, 10, 13, 14, 16
S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-8704, 6, 21, 22, 25
S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-6104, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20

Court Rules

Rule 4, SCRCP17
Rule 60, SCRCP4, 6
Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCP6, 8, 10, 20, 22, 26
Rules 52(b) and 59(e), SCRCP5

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Master-in-Equity (the “Master”) err as a matter of law in denying the Estate’s motion to vacate, where the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was void under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRPC, for lack of personal jurisdiction, the Association having proceeded by publication against a known and reachable fiduciary?

II. Did the Master err in invoking the bona fide purchaser doctrine and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-870 to insulate the sale from collateral attack, where the underlying judgment was not rendered by a “court of competent jurisdiction” and where the purchaser’s own testimony established constructive notice of the defects in service?

III. Did the Master abuse his discretion in declining to set aside the foreclosure sale under the second prong of Buffalo Creek Investments, Inc. v. Pettus – “other circumstances warranting the interference of the court”?

IV. Did the Master err as a matter of law in applying the Debt Method of valuation under Winrose Homeowners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. Hale, and in crediting the winning bid with unassumed delinquent ad valorem taxes and post-sale renovation costs, where the Property carried no mortgage and the Equity Method governed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the denial of a motion to vacate a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, the resulting judicial sale, and the deed conveying real property pursuant to that sale – all entered without constitutionally sufficient notice to the Estate of the deceased record owner, Rajiv Kumar Lakhaney (the “**Estate**”).

The record owner, Rajiv Kumar Lakhaney, died in the State of New Jersey on July 31, 2024 – twelve days before the Association filed suit. (See Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 18:1-6, R. at ____). Within barely a week, on August 8, 2024, the Bergen County Surrogate’s Court appointed Katherine Semyonov as Administrator of the Estate¹ (Docket No. 2024-3095). (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 18:12-19, R. at ____). The Administrator was thus in place – and the Estate open and publicly identifiable in New Jersey – four days before this foreclosure action was even filed. (Compl., R. at ____). And by the time the foreclosure proceeded to judgment, the personal representative had changed once more: by consent order entered January 22, 2025 (as later amended on February 11, 2025), the Bergen County Surrogate’s Court removed Ms. Semyonov and appointed Carmen Cortes-Sykes, Esq., as Substitute Administrator. (Cortes-Sykes Aff., R. at ____).

When Harbor Town Association, Inc. (the “**Association**”) commenced this action on August 12, 2024 in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas, seeking to foreclose a homeowners’ association assessment lien filed June 16, 2023, the only debt encumbering the real estate was the Association’s – which, after the decedent’s last payment in August 2023, had stood at just \$151.12, the deficit amount which spun this foreclosure into action. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 65:9-

¹ Rajiv Kumar Lakhaney was in the midst of a divorce proceeding at the time of his unexpected death (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 18:2-11; 48:16, R. at ____). Because of the divorce, Mr. Lakhaney’s brother contested having Ms. Semyonov –the mother of Mr. Lakhaney’s seven-year-old daughter (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 16:17-19, R. at ____) – serve as personal representative, and Ms. Semyonov was abruptly removed with no orderly transition to her successor (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 18:18-20:1; 50:5-21, R. at ____).

17; see also 22:1-30:9, R. at ____). Without so much as an email to the absentee homeowner, with whom the Association’s attorney previously had communicated before his death (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 66:4-22; R. at ____), the Association pursued foreclosure against the real property located at 36 Spinnaker Court, Greenville, South Carolina (the “**Property**”), owned by the estate of a deceased and formerly absentee homeowner. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 12:7-15, R. at ____).

The Property was a valuable asset—a townhome in an established residential development (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 12:18-24, R. at ____), valued between \$176,000 and \$209,000 (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 16:4-8; 56:11-14; 88:16-22; 93:3-9, 137:13-19, R. at ____), and intended by the decedent as a vacation residence to be left to his minor daughter (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 17:7-16, R. at ____). It carried no mortgage or other debt: only the Association’s lien (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 16:20-23, R. at ____), which stood at \$3,254.70 when the Amended Complaint was filed (Am. Compl. ¶ 11, R. at ____) including attorney’s fees and had grown only to a still-modest \$5,596.76 by the time of judgment. (Foreclosure Order ¶ 16, R. at ____).

To collect that \$5,596.76, the foreclosure sale that followed divested the Estate of a residence worth approximately \$151,000 more than the bidder paid for it, transferred the Property to a third-party bidder for only \$25,000 (Master’s Order on Sale; Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 114:14-19, R. at ____), and stripped the inheritance of a minor child residing in Florida. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 16:17-19, R. at ____). Compounding the disconnect, the decedent died in New Jersey, not South Carolina (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 12:7-10, R. at ____), and his estate was being probated in New Jersey at the time of the sale (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 18:13-19:12, R. at ____).

And although the Association was aware of the personal representative, it did not provide her effective notice – as the Association’s own counsel candidly acknowledged. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 149:8-150:13, R. at ____). For that reason, this appeal is not expected to be contested by the

Association; it is contested by the third-party purchaser, whose principal is a retired South Carolina lawyer. (Vacatur Hr'g Tr. 109:8-14, R. at ____).

Although the Association was on notice of Mr. Lakhaney's death, the procedural path it chose did not reach his Estate. On August 29, 2024, the Association filed an Amended Summons and Complaint substituting "RAJIV KUMAR LAKHANEY, DECEASED," together with classes of unknown adults (John Doe) and unknown minors and persons under disability (Richard Roe). (Am. Compl., R. at ____). It did not, however, name the Estate as a defendant, and it did not serve the personal representative. Instead, as if on a conveyor belt, by standard form Order dated September 9, 2024, the Court appointed Kelley Yarborough Woody, Esq., as Guardian ad Litem Nisi for the unknown defendants and, without any notice to the Estate, authorized service by publication. (GAL Order, R. at ____). The Motion and Order for Appointment of Guardian ad Litem Nisi and Attorney contained a combined motion and order without any affidavit or information itemizing attempts to serve the known defendants by publication. The GAL Order theoretically protected only unknown defendants but provided no due process upon known defendants as they were not served, even with notice of the sale. The Association, through its counsel, caused service of the Amended Complaint to be published in the Greenville Journal for three consecutive weeks in September and October 2024. (Aff. of Publication, R. at ____).

The Guardian ad Litem in turn filed an Answer denying the allegations on behalf of the unknown defendants and consented to reference to the Master. (GAL Answer, R. at ____). The Court thereafter referred the matter to the Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity for Greenville County, with finality. (Order of Reference, R. at ____). And the Guardian ad Litem herself understood her role to be a narrow one: she considered her representation to have ended with the filing of her Answer. (Vacatur Hr'g Tr. 104:1-8; 106:15-18, R. at ____).

On that record, the matter proceeded to a foreclosure hearing before the Master on June 6, 2025. (Foreclosure Hr’g Tr. 1:1, R. at ____). On June 11, 2025, the Master entered a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, reciting that “Service was made upon all Defendant(s) as shown by the proof(s) of service filed herein”; the Association expressly waived any deficiency judgment. (Foreclosure Order ¶ 4, R. at ____). The judicial sale followed on August 4, 2025; Oriole Properties, LLC submitted the winning bid of \$25,000 and assigned a one-half interest to Thomas and Son Properties, LLC (the “**Third-Party Purchasers**”). (Master’s Order on Sale; Master Assignment of Bid; Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 114:1-115:5; 119:14-120:18, R. at ____). The Third-Party Purchasers recorded the deed two weeks later, on August 18, 2025. (Master’s Deed; Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 122:6-9, R. at ____).

The Estate moved promptly. On September 4, 2025 – within weeks of learning the Property had been sold – it filed a motion under Rule 60, SCRPC, to vacate the September 9, 2024 Order Appointing Guardian ad Litem and authorizing publication, the June 11, 2025 Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, the August 4, 2025 sale, and the August 18, 2025 Order on Sale of Real Estate. (Mot. to Vacate, R. at ____). The Master held an evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Vacate on October 7, 2025. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 1:1, R. at ____). By Order entered October 29, 2025 (the “**Order**”), the Master denied the Motion to Vacate, concluding that (i) the Third-Party Purchasers were bona fide purchasers; (ii) under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-610, the Association was not required to substitute the Administrator of the Estate as a party because it sought only to foreclose against the Property and did not pursue a deficiency or personal judgment; (iii) the Estate’s fiduciaries had “actual notice” of the foreclosure proceedings; and (iv) the price did not shock the conscience once delinquent ad valorem taxes and prospective renovation costs were considered alongside the bid under what the Master termed the “Debt Method.” (Order, R. at ____).

The Estate then timely sought reconsideration. On November 7, 2025, it moved under Rules 59(e) and 52(b), SCRPC, to reconsider and amend the October 29, 2025 Order. (Mot. to Reconsider, R. at ____). By Form 4 Order entered November 17, 2025, the Master denied reconsideration “for the reasons sufficiently set forth in the Order filed October 29, 2025.” (Reconsideration Order, R. at ____). The Estate filed its Notice of Appeal on November 26, 2025. (Notice of Appeal, R. at ____). And by consent order entered December 11, 2025, the Master set the Estate’s appeal bond at \$40,000 and continued the lis pendens in effect throughout the pendency of this appeal. (Bond Consent Order, R. at ____).

The amount involved on appeal, accordingly, is the value of the Property – uncontroverted record evidence places fair market value in a range of approximately \$176,000 to \$209,000 – together with the \$25,000 sale consideration and the residual equity that vacatur would restore to the Estate. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 16:4-8; 56:11-14; 88:16-22; 93:3-9; 114:14-19, R. at ____).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A single standard of appellate review governs each issue presented, and at every layer that standard points toward reversal.

An HOA-lien foreclosure, like a mortgage foreclosure, sounds in equity. Wachesaw Plantation E. Cmty. Servs. Ass’n, Inc. v. Alexander, 420 S.C. 251, 256 n.1, 802 S.E.2d 635, 638 n.1 (Ct. App. 2017); E. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders, 373 S.C. 349, 354, 644 S.E.2d 802, 805 (Ct. App. 2007). Because the Master sat with finality, this Court reviews the equitable record under its “own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Buffalo Creek Invs., Inc. v. Pettus, 440 S.C. 111, 118-19, 889 S.E.2d 608, 611-12 (Ct. App. 2023); accord Belle Hall Plantation Homeowner’s Ass’n, Inc. v. Murray, 419 S.C. 605, 614, 799 S.E.2d 310, 315 (Ct. App. 2017) (“The appellate court’s standard of review in equitable matters is our own view of the preponderance of the

evidence.” (quoting Horry Cty. v. Ray, 382 S.C. 76, 80, 674 S.E.2d 519, 522 (Ct. App. 2009))). While this Court is “not required to disregard the findings of the special referee,” id. at 118, 889 S.E.2d at 611, that deference yields where, as here, the findings are “controlled by an error of law” or “based on unsupported factual conclusions.” Belle Hall, 419 S.C. at 615, 799 S.E.2d at 315.

Moreover, the decision whether to set aside a judicial sale, including upon a motion under Rule 60, SCRPC, rests in the first instance within the Master’s sound discretion. See Buffalo Creek, 440 S.C. at 119, 889 S.E.2d at 612 (quoting Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Turner, 378 S.C. 147, 150, 662 S.E.2d 424, 425 (Ct. App. 2008)). That discretion does not, however, extend to legal error. As this Court has repeatedly emphasized, “[a]n abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the [master] are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” Belle Hall, 419 S.C. at 615, 799 S.E.2d at 315; accord Buffalo Creek, 440 S.C. at 119, 889 S.E.2d at 612.

This Court must therefore reverse where the ruling below rests on a misapprehension of controlling law—including the law of personal jurisdiction under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRPC, see Belle Hall, 419 S.C. at 617-19, 799 S.E.2d at 316-17; the law governing bona fide purchaser status under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-870; the equitable principles articulated in Buffalo Creek; and the valuation framework the Supreme Court announced in Winrose Homeowners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. Hale, 428 S.C. 563, 837 S.E.2d 47 (2019).

Each of those legal frameworks, properly applied, leads to the same result.

ARGUMENT

This appeal presents a foundational question of judicial authority: may a court of equity bind an estate, sell its homestead, and strip its equity for a fraction of the Property’s value through service by publication directed only to “unknown heirs”—when the foreclosing plaintiff possessed actual, documented knowledge of the homeowner’s death, the docket number of his out-of-state estate, and the name and contact information of its administrator, and when the purchaser had sufficient factual and legal notice to calculate the risk that the sale would be undone?

The answer, under settled South Carolina law, is no. A court of equity may not bind an estate, sell its homestead, or confiscate its equity at a sale price reflecting only a small fraction of the Property’s value – and particularly not without express notification – where the foreclosing plaintiff possessed actual, documented knowledge of the homeowner’s death, the existence and docket number of the out-of-state estate, and the identity and contact information of the estate’s administrator.

Proceeding by publication directed only to “unknown heirs” is constitutionally insufficient notice to sell a property carrying significant equity for a nominal amount, particularly when the foreclosing party is a homeowners’ association possessed of other means of repayment and free to allow the balance to grow without prejudice. (See Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 31:16-32:3; 66:4-10; 66:19-25, R. at ____). Permitting a homeowners’ association to foreclose for so trivial a debt also offends the equitable principles this Court has reaffirmed. See Winrose Homeowners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. Hale, 428 S.C. 563, 574, 837 S.E.2d 47, 53 (2019) (“A foreclosure proceeding is a **last resort**, not a business model to be swiftly invoked for the purpose of exploiting property owners. We do not countenance the improper use of foreclosure proceedings by the HOA, its attorney, or Regime.”) (emphasis added). The proceedings below cannot be reconciled with the constitutional and

equitable command that protects parties from the deprivation of property without due process. See Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950). This Court should reverse.

Four independent grounds, each sufficient on its own, warrant that result. First, the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale is void *ab initio* for want of personal jurisdiction over the real party in interest. Second, the bona fide purchaser doctrine cannot validate a sale that depends upon a void judgment, and the doctrine fails on its own merits where the purchaser's own testimony establishes constructive notice. Third, the equities under Buffalo Creek independently require vacatur. Fourth, the Master's adequacy analysis rested on a legal error in valuation methodology. The grounds are sequential as well as independent: each, taken on its own terms, supplies a complete basis for reversal, and the conclusion reached on any one of them reinforces the others. This Court should reverse, vacate the Order, the November 17, 2025 Form 4 Order denying reconsideration, the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, the August 4, 2025 sale, and the August 18, 2025 deed, and restore title to the Estate.

I. The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale Is Void Under Rule 60(b)(4) Because Service by Publication Was Constitutionally and Statutorily Insufficient.

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