THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jul 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr.
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2025-002386
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-23-04910

Harbor Town Association, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Rajiv Kumar Lakhaney, Deceased; and any children and heirs at
law, distributees and devisees, and if any be deceased then any
persons entitled to claim under or through them; also all other
persons unknown claiming any right, title, interest or lien upon the
real property described in the complaint herein, any unknown

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

ARGUMENT

This appeal is not ultimately about publication, service of process, or New Jersey probate procedure. It is about whether innocent third-party purchasers who acquired title through a public judicial sale may later be divested of that title based on alleged defects that were neither known to them nor apparent from the court file when they bid, complied, and accepted a deed. South Carolina has long protected such purchasers through both the bona fide purchaser doctrine and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-870. Even assuming Appellant’s complaints regarding the underlying foreclosure have merit, those complaints do not justify unwinding a completed judicial sale against purchasers who paid value, acquired title, and lacked notice of any defect.

I. The Third-Party Purchasers Acquired Vested Rights Protected by South Carolina’s Bona Fide Purchaser Doctrine and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-870.

A. A bona fide purchaser’s title is not affected by alleged defects in service between the original parties to the foreclosure.

South Carolina has long protected the finality of judicial sales and the rights of innocent purchasers. The governing principle is codified in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-870, which provides that once a deed is executed and delivered by the proper officer of the court, “the proceedings under which the sale was made are deemed res judicata as to all bona fide purchasers for value without notice.” This statute means what it says: procedural irregularities in the underlying action—including alleged defects in service—cannot be used to collaterally attack title held by a bona fide purchaser.

This Court squarely applied that principle in *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 69, 762 S.E.2d 729, 733 (Ct. App. 2014), holding that a bona fide purchaser’s title to property was “*not affected*” by a claim of defective service in the underlying foreclosure.

The Court emphasized that the finality protections of § 15-39-870 shield purchasers from precisely the kind of post-hoc challenge the Estate raises here. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 378 S.C. 140, 145–46, 662 S.E.2d 420, 423 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff'd*, 390 S.C. 272, 701 S.E.2d 740 (2010), this Court held that “[n]one of these affidavits, however, were matters of record at the time of the foreclosure sale” and therefore could not defeat the purchaser’s bona fide status. The Supreme Court’s reasoning could not be more directly applicable here: whatever the Estate has assembled *after* the sale concerning alleged service defects, nothing in the court file at the time of the August 4, 2025 sale suggested any jurisdictional issue. *Robinson*, 378 S.C. at 146, 662 S.E.2d at 423.

And the South Carolina Supreme Court confirmed in *Cumbie v. Newberry*, 251 S.C. 33, 37, 159 S.E.2d 915, 917 (1968), that a purchaser in good faith at a judicial sale “is not affected by procedural irregularities or even errors in the judgment under which the sale is made.” This holding is dispositive. Even if the Estate could establish an error in the service process, which is not conceded, that error cannot defeat the rights of an innocent purchaser who acted in good faith and without notice.

Appellant attempts to circumvent this settled body of law by characterizing the Judgment as entirely “void.” But as demonstrated in Section II, the void-judgment doctrine does not nullify the independent statutory protections of § 15-39-870 as applied to bona fide purchasers. *Robinson* itself involved a challenge predicated on alleged lack of personal jurisdiction over the defendant, and this Court affirmed the protection of the bona fide purchaser. 378 S.C. at 145–46, 662 S.E.2d at 423.

B. The Third-Party Purchasers are bona fide purchasers for value without notice as a matter of law.

A party claiming bona fide purchaser status must show: “(1) actual payment of the purchase price of the property, (2) acquisition of legal title to the property, or the best right to it, and (3) a bona fide purchase, ‘i.e., in good faith and with integrity of dealing, without notice of a lien or defect.’” *Buffalo Creek Invs., Inc. v. Pettus*, 440 S.C. 111, 120, 889 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2023) (quoting *Robinson*, 378 S.C. at 146, 662 S.E.2d at 423). The Master-in-Equity expressly found that the Third-Party Purchasers satisfy every element. (Order, R. at ____.) That finding is correct:

Payment of value. The Third-Party Purchasers paid the full bid of \$25,000, deposited 5% on the day of sale, and complied with the bid on August 14, 2025. (Order, Finding 18, R. at ____.) They also subsequently paid \$13,196.79 in outstanding property taxes—amounts that formed part of the financial burden associated with the Property. (Affidavit of Clayton M. Custer, R. at ____.) And they have invested an additional \$35,000–\$45,000 in renovations. (Order, Finding 21, R. at ____.)

Acquisition of legal title. A deed was issued by the Master-in-Equity and recorded on August 18, 2025, in Deed Book 2762, Page 1880. (Order, Finding 20, R. at ____.)

Good faith and absence of notice. This is the dispositive element on which Appellant spills most of its ink, yet the Master-in-Equity’s finding is unassailable. Mr. Custer testified, without contradiction, that he reviewed the court file and orders before bidding; that the file reflected that service had been completed and approved by the court; that a Guardian ad Litem had been appointed; and that *nothing in the file suggested any defect in service or jurisdiction*. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 126:12–127:18, R. at ____.) The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale itself expressly recited: “Service was made upon all Defendant(s) as shown by the proof(s) of service filed herein.” (Foreclosure Order ¶ 4, R. at ____.)

Appellant's constructive notice argument collapses the moment one asks the dispositive question: constructive notice *of what*? Mr. Custer saw that the homeowner was deceased, that an estate existed in New Jersey, and that a GAL had been appointed. (Vacatur Hr'g Tr. 126:12–127:18, R. at ____.) None of that is notice of a *defect in service*. To the contrary, the appointment of a GAL and the court's express finding that service was complete are precisely the kinds of regular procedural steps that a purchaser is entitled to rely upon. A bidder at a judicial sale is not required to second-guess the court's own determination that service was proper. The relevant inquiry is not whether a purchaser could identify facts that, years later and with the benefit of litigation, might support a service argument. The relevant inquiry is whether the court file, as it existed before the sale, disclosed a defect sufficiently apparent to place a reasonable bidder on notice that the judgment itself was vulnerable. It did not. The file reflected appointment of a Guardian ad Litem, publication authorized by court order, entry of judgment, and a judicial finding that service had been completed. A purchaser reviewing that file was entitled to rely on the regularity of the judicial process.

Nor does Appellant identify any authority – because none exists in South Carolina jurisprudence – creating a heightened or sliding-scale inquiry obligation for a purchaser simply because the purchaser is a lawyer or has experience with purchasing properties at foreclosure sales. South Carolina's bona fide purchaser doctrine asks whether the purchaser paid value, acquired title, and lacked actual or constructive notice of a defect. It does not impose one standard for lawyers and another for lay purchasers. Appellant's attempt to convert Mr. Custer's professional background and diligence into constructive notice inverts the doctrine and finds no support in the case law.

Appellant also points to phone calls Mr. Custer received shortly before complying with his bid – one garbled voicemail from a New Jersey number and one call from Ms. Cortes-Sykes on August 13, 2025 in which she identified herself only as calling “about the property” without providing any substantive information about an alleged defect in service or jurisdiction. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 133:1–134:8, R. at ____.) Mr. Custer did not ignore the call; he forwarded it to his title attorney, who confirmed the title was clear. (Vacatur Hr’g Tr. 134:5–8, R. at ____.) He then complied with his bid on August 14, 2025. And the Estate? It waited until September 4, 2025 – three full weeks after that phone call – to file its Motion to Vacate. If a vague phone call “about the property” was supposed to put Mr. Custer on notice of a jurisdictional defect, one would expect the Estate to have acted with more urgency. A vague, unsolicited phone call from a person who does not identify herself as the Estate’s administrator, does not mention any defect in service, and does not suggest the sale should be halted is not constructive.

C. *Rallis* Confirms That Appellant’s Theory of Constructive Notice Is Too Broad.

Appellant’s reliance on *Rallis Holdings, LLC v. Martinez*, No. 2019-001821, 2023 WL 155075 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2023), does not advance its argument. If anything, *Rallis* confirms the rule that protects the Third-Party Purchasers here.

In *Rallis*, the Court of Appeals addressed a post-sale challenge to a foreclosure judgment and sale based on alleged defective service. The Court reversed the Master-in-Equity’s order setting aside the sale, emphasizing South Carolina’s strong policy of protecting good-faith purchasers and preserving the finality of judicial sales. The Court held that a master’s deed must be upheld against a later service challenge unless the alleged defect in service was “readily apparent on the face of the materials in the master’s file before he ordered the foreclosure sale.”

Id. at *1.

That is the critical point. *Rallis* does not impose on bidders a duty to audit the plaintiff's service efforts, independently investigate out-of-state probate records, contact probate courts in other jurisdictions, or second-guess the court's own service determinations before bidding. It protects purchasers unless the court file itself reveals an obvious defect – one “readily apparent on the face” of the court's file. The alleged problem must be apparent from the face of the court's file, not constructed after the fact through post-sale testimony, affidavits, or a more aggressive legal theory about what the plaintiff should have done differently. Appellant's reading of *Rallis* and *Cumbe* – that a purchaser must investigate “at his peril” by contacting out-of-state courts and tracking down administrators – would impose an investigative burden that no South Carolina case has ever required.

The South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in *Gladden v. Chapman*, 106 S.C. 486, 91 S.E. 796 (1917), supplies the foundational principle. In *Gladden*, purchasers acquired property at a partition sale where the underlying judgment later proved erroneous – the court had proceeded on the theory that certain heirs were dead when they were, in fact, alive. *Id.*; 91 S.E.2d at 797. The heirs sought to recover the land, arguing the judgment was void. *Id.*; 91 S.E.2d at 798. The Supreme Court rejected the attack and protected the purchasers, holding that “the purchaser in good faith at a judicial sale is bound only to see that the court had jurisdiction of the subject of the action and of the parties in interest. He is not affected by irregularities or errors in the record for which the judgment might have been vacated in a direct attack, or reversed on appeal, or *by secret vices affecting the judgment, which are not disclosed by examination of the record.*” *Id.*; 91 S.E. at 797 (emphasis added).

Appellant points to facts in the file showing that Mr. Lakhaney was deceased, that an estate existed in New Jersey, and that a guardian ad litem had been appointed. But those facts do not

establish constructive notice of a jurisdictional defect. They establish only that the foreclosure involved a deceased owner and unknown heirs, which is precisely why the court appointed a guardian ad litem and authorized publication. Nothing about that sequence of events – death, appointment of GAL, service by publication, entry of judgment – discloses on its face the kind of defect that *Rallis* requires or the kind of “secret vice” that *Gladden* holds cannot defeat bona fide purchaser status. Appellant’s argument requires a purchaser to go several steps beyond the face of the file: to question whether publication should have been allowed, determine whether the Association should have served a fiduciary instead, investigate the New Jersey probate docket, evaluate the adequacy of due diligence under South Carolina publication statutes, and predict that a later court might disagree with the Master-in-Equity’s service determination. That is not a readily apparent defect. It is a hindsight service challenge constructed after the sale and is precisely the kind of post-sale attack from which *Rallis* and *Gladden* protect bona fide purchasers.

The *Gladden* Court grounded this rule in sound public policy: “What sort of an opinion must the average layman entertain of a court and its administration of justice, if that court should sell him land and take his money for it, and afterwards tell him that he has no title and take it away from him? Our people have an abiding faith in ‘court titles,’ and it should not be shaken.” *Gladden v. Chapman*, 106 S.C. 486, 91 S.E. 796, 797 (1917). That policy is implicated directly here. The Third-Party Purchasers reviewed the court file, saw that service had been completed pursuant to court order, that a Guardian ad Litem had been appointed, and that judgment had been entered. They paid value and took title in reliance on the court’s orders. Appellant’s after-the-fact argument that the Association should have done more to locate the Estate’s administrator is precisely the kind of “secret vice” – one not apparent from the court file – that *Gladden* holds cannot defeat bona fide purchaser status.

D. The Association's non-opposition to vacatur is irrelevant to the Third-Party Purchasers' vested rights.

Appellant argues that the Association's "non-opposition" to vacating the sale somehow "reinforces that the equitable balance favors the Estate." (Appellant's Br. at 25.) The Association's litigation posture – whatever its motivations – cannot waive or compromise the *Third-Party Purchasers'* independently vested property rights. Once a deed issues to a bona fide purchaser, title vests. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-870. The original parties to the foreclosure cannot agree among themselves to strip that title any more than a seller and buyer can agree to take back property already conveyed to a third party. The Third-Party Purchasers are parties to this action; they hold title; and their rights are not subject to the Association's disposition.

II. Even If Appellant Could Establish a Jurisdictional Defect, That Does Not Eliminate Bona Fide Purchaser Protection.

A. The voidness doctrine does not extend to defeat bona fide purchaser protections under § 15-39-870.

Appellant's argument depends upon the proposition that labeling a judgment "void" automatically defeats the protections afforded bona fide purchasers. But *Robinson*, *Bloody Point*, and *Rallis* all involved post-sale attempts to challenge completed judicial sales based upon alleged defects in the underlying proceedings. If every later-asserted jurisdictional challenge automatically defeated bona fide purchaser protection, the protections recognized in those cases would have little practical effect. South Carolina law instead focuses upon what the purchaser knew, or reasonably should have known, at the time title was acquired.

Appellant's voidness authorities address whether a judgment may bind a party who was not properly served. They do not eliminate the separate statutory and equitable protections afforded to innocent third-party purchasers at judicial sales. That separate question is answered by § 15-39-870 and by the cases applying it, including *Robinson* and *Bloody Point*. Those cases specifically

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